1990

W. Daniel English v. Standard Optical Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(j) because this is an appeal from a final judgment and order in a civil matter in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. This matter was transferred from the Utah Supreme Court to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4) in an order dated August 31, 1990.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Rental Agreement could be extended for an additional 36 months without a written addendum specifying the amount of rent to be paid, the term of the extension and signed by the parties.

2. Whether English deprived Standard of possession of the leased premises and is consequently barred from claiming an enforceable lease after August 31, 1988.

3. Whether there was sufficient evidence presented at trial to support the finding that Standard failed to return the premises to English in as good a condition as it was at the commencement of the Rental Agreement.

4. Whether English's failure to notify Standard of damage and/or the necessity of refurbishing prior to English's commencing repairs and refurbishing precludes him from recovering related damages.

Regarding questions of law, the appellate court accords no deference to the trial court's conclusions, and the standard of review is "correctness." City of Monticello v. Christensen, 788 P.2d 513, 516 (Utah 1990).

DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY

Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3 (1989). See Addendum hereto for full text.

RELATED APPEAL

Appellant believes that Century Park Offices, Ltd. v. William R. Bireley, Case No. 900462-CA, presently on appeal to this Court involves similar issues to the instant appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a landlord-tenant dispute. In 1982 defendant/appellant, Standard Optical Company ("Standard"), and

plaintiff/respondent, W. Daniel English ("English"), entered into a written Rental Agreement for commercial space. On or about January 30, 1989, English filed the instant lawsuit against Standard. English claimed that Standard defaulted under the Rental Agreement by failing to pay rent due. English requested an award of damages for past and future rent and for expenses relating to repairs and re-renting of the leased premises.

After discovery was conducted, a trial was held on December 21 and 22, 1989 in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Michael R. Murphy presiding. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment appealed from were entered on or about February 9, 1990. On or about February 15, 1990 Standard filed its Motion to Amend the Judgment on the general grounds of error in law, insufficiency of the evidence to justify the decision, and abuse of discretion. After both parties submitted memoranda, the trial court entered its order denying Standard's motion to amend the judgment on May 17, 1990. On June 7, 1990 Standard filed a notice of appeal from the trial court's February 9, 1990 Judgment and the trial court's May 17, 1990 Order denying defendant's Motion to Amend the Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are undisputed and derived from the court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and from the Trial Transcript and Exhibits.

1. On August 10, 1982, English and Standard entered into a written Lease Agreement for the lease of commercial real property and a building located at 3525 Market Street, West Valley City, Utah ("the leased premises"). See R. at 186 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 1).

2. The Lease Agreement provides in relevant part:

(a) To have and to hold said premises and office space under the terms of this agreement for a term of ten (10) years beginning on the first day of the month following written notice to Lessee from Lessor and terminating at midnight on the last day of the same month 10 years hence.

(b) The Lessee does hereby unconditionally agree to pay his rent for the demise premises and to Lessor, or order, at West Valley City, Salt Lake County, Utah, the sum of \$1,000 each month for 36 months with the first such installment to be due and payable on or before the first day of September, 1982, and each installment payment to be due thereafter on or before the same calendar day during the term of the agreement. A grace period of five days is given for the making of such installment payment.

(c) The monthly rent specified in the sections above shall be negotiated every 36 months.

. . .

(o) The Lessee does hereby agree to return said premises back to the Lessor at the end of this lease term in as good a condition as the premises are at the commencement of this lease, with only ordinary wear and depreciation being accepted.

(p) It is mutually agreed that in the event it becomes necessary for either party to enforce the terms of this agreement with

court action, after default, that the party determined to be in default will pay to the opposite party all court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees.

See R. at 186-189 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 2); Trial Exhibit 4P.

For the Court's convenience, a copy of the 1982 Lease Agreement is included in the Addendum hereto.

3. On or about September 1, 1985, plaintiff and defendant entered into a written addendum to the 1982 Rental Agreement specifying a monthly rent of \$1,200 to be paid for the 36-month period beginning on September 1, 1985. See R. at 189 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 3); Trial Exhibit 37D. For the Court's convenience a copy of the 1985 addendum is included in the Addendum to this Brief.

4. At the time of execution of the written addendum to the 1982 Rental Agreement, English understood that changes or amendments to the Agreement were required to be in writing and signed by the parties. See Trial Transcript, Volume III, pp. 12-13.

5. Prior to June 1988, Standard understood the Rental Agreement term to expire at the end of August 1988, with an option to negotiate a renewal. See R. at 190 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 6).

6. Standard kept all rental payments to English current through August 1988. See R. at 190, 191 (Findings of Fact, ¶¶ 5, 9 and 15).

7. On or about July 1, 1988, English met with Stephen Schubach ("Schubach"), president of Standard at English's office. Schubach then informed English that Standard intended to move out of the leased premises at the end of July. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, pp. 82-83.

8. On or about July 5, 1988, the parties began to discuss a new rental amount and the possibility of subletting the leased premises. See R. at 190 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 10).

9. On or about July 18, 1988, Standard ceased doing business at the leased premises and moved out some of its personal property. See R. at 190 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 10).

10. The parties continued through August and September 1988 to negotiate for a lease renewal at a new rental amount beginning September 1, 1988. See R. at 190-192 (Findings of Fact, ¶¶ 10-17).

11. On or about September 26, 1988, the parties met to negotiate rent and discuss the possibility of subletting the leased premises. The parties failed at that meeting to agree on a rental amount. See R. at 192 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 17).

12. Prior to October 18, 1988, English began negotiating with subcontractors to have extensive work done in the leased premises. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 131.

13. On or about October 18, 1988, English changed the locks on the leased premises. See R. at 193 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 23); Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 132.

14. Before English changed the locks on the leased premises, he did not notify Standard or obtain Standard's consent. See Trial Transcript, Volume II, pp. 18-19.

15. On October 20, 1988, English's attorney, Gary Doctorman, wrote a letter to Standard. The letter stated that Standard was "in violation of the terms of the lease" and that if it desired to "remain in possession of the leased premises," it should make rent payments for the months of September and October. The amount of rent claimed due was not specified in the letter. See R. at 193 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 25); Trial Exhibit 12P.

16. As of October 20, 1988, the parties had failed to negotiate a lease renewal and rental amount. See R. at 194 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 26).

17. The subcontractors hired by English began work on the interior of the leased premises in the latter part of October 1988. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 45.

18. Plaintiff never made any mention to Standard of damage to the leased premises or demanded repairs or cleaning of the premises at any time prior to November, 1988. See Trial Exhibits 11 and 12; and See Trial Transcript, Volume II, p. 63.

19. On November 2, 1988, Schubach called English at his home and told English that Standard would pay \$1,000 per month. In the same conversation, English asked Schubach to have

Standard's property removed from the leased premises. See R. at 194 (Findings of Fact, ¶ 28); Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 140.

20. At the time of his November 2, 1988 telephone conversation with English, Schubach was unaware that English had changed the locks to the leased premises and engaged contractors to do work in the premises. Trial Transcript, Volume II, p. 64.

21. On or about November 7, 1988, Klaus Rathke, an employee of Standard ("Rathke"), met with English at the leased premises. At that time, Rathke asked English for a key to the premises so that Standard's workmen could get into the premises to remove the remaining pieces of Standard's property. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 139.

22. Sometime shortly after the November 7, 1988 meeting with Rathke, employees of Standard obtained a key to the premises from English's secretary and removed Standard's remaining property from the premises. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 139.

23. Standard did not attempt to enter the leased premises again until December 16, 1988 when Rathke again met with English in the leased premises at English's request. At that meeting, English walked Rathke through the premises to show him the extensive work he had done on the premises since October 1988. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 145.

24. On or about November 21, 1988, English received a check from Standard for \$1,600. See Trial Transcript, Volume I,

p. 141; Trial Exhibit 17P. A copy of this check is included in the Addendum hereto.

25. On December 2, 1988 English sent a letter to Standard demanding payments for the months of October, November and December and informing Standard that he had three prospective tenants and was nearing completion refurbishing the premises. Trial Exhibit 13P. A copy of this letter is included in the Addendum hereto.

26. On or about December 5, 1988, English received a check dated December 1, 1988 from Standard in the amount of \$1,000. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 142; Trial Exhibit 18P. A copy of this check is included in the Addendum hereto.

27. English did not endorse the checks received from Standard on November 21 and December 5, 1988, but did negotiate them. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, pp. 141-143; Plaintiff's Exhibits 17 and 18. See Addendum hereto.

28. English never made any demand on Standard to return the premises to the condition in which it had been at the commencement of the 1982 Lease Agreement. See Trial Transcript, Volume II, p. 23.

29. English's understanding of the Lease Agreement was that after October 5, 1988, Standard had no rights under the lease. See Trial Transcript, Volume II, p. 23.

30. After a bench trial was held in this action on December 21 and 22, 1989, the trial court found that "pursuant to

the terms of the written lease, the parties negotiated at the end of the second thirty-six month term and on or about November 2, 1988 the parties agreed that the rent for the next thirty-six month term from September 1, 1988 to August 1, 1991 would be \$1,000.00 per month." R. at 197 (Conclusions of Law, 1).

31. The trial court further found that "Standard Optical failed to pay the rent as agreed and breached the written lease." And that "Standard Optical breached the written Lease Agreement between the parties as they failed to maintain and repair the premises, including the furnace . . ." R. at 198 (Conclusions of Law, ¶¶ 2 and 3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in determining that the Rental Agreement could be extended for an additional 36 months without a written addendum signed by English and specifying the amount of rent to be paid and the term of the extension. Standard's checks together with English's December 2, 1988 demand letter do not satisfy the requirements of statute of frauds, Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-1. Under the statute of frauds and fundamental principles of contract law, Standard's oral agreement to pay English \$1,000 per month was insufficient to extend the Rental Agreement for an additional term of years. English deprived Standard of possession of the leased premises and in doing so he failed to provide consideration for an extension of the lease term.

English was entitled only to receive the leased premises in as good a condition as they were at the commencement of the lease with only ordinary wear and depreciation being accepted. There was insufficient evidence presented at trial to support the trial court's finding that Standard failed to return the premises to English in as good a condition as it was in at the commencement of the Rental Agreement. Furthermore, English's failure to notify Standard of damage and/or the necessity of refurbishing prior to English's commencing repairs and refurbishing precludes him from recovering related damages.

POINT I

**THERE WAS NO ENFORCEABLE LEASE BETWEEN
THE PARTIES AFTER AUGUST 1988.**

Despite the stated 10-year term in the Lease Agreement entered into by the parties in 1982, the lease was an enforceable contract only with respect to the terms for which a rental amount has been agreed upon. In effect, there was an option to renew the lease every 36 months, provided the parties could agree upon the monthly rent. This was Standard's understanding of the effect of the lease and the basis for the testimony at trial that Standard informed English that they believed the lease terminated on September 1988. See Trial Transcript, Volume I, p. 82.

Standard's interpretation of the Lease Agreement is supported by fundamental principles of contract law.

A condition precedent to the enforcement of any contract is that there be a meeting of

the minds of the parties, which must be spelled out, either expressly or impliedly, with sufficient definiteness to be enforced . . .

Valcarce v. Bitters, 362 P.2d 427 (Utah 1961). Even where the parties may believe themselves bound under a contract, if the terms of the contract are so vague and indefinite that there is no basis or standard for determining whether the agreement had been kept or broken, or to fashion a remedy, and where there are no means by which the terms may be certain, then there is no enforceable contract. Candid Productions, Inc. v. International Skating Union, 530 F.Supp. 1330 (S.D.N.Y. 1982). Several courts have applied these fundamental principles of contract law to contracts for the lease of real property. See e.g., Honolulu Water Front Ltd. Partnership v. Aloha Tower Development Corp., 692 F. Supp. 1230 (Dist. Hawaii, 1988).

There are three essential elements in an agreement for a lease of real property: (1) a description of the property, (2) the duration of the term, and (3) the rental consideration.

Karamanos v. Hamm, 513 P.2d 761, 762 (Oregon 1973).

It is well settled in the common law of contracts that a mere agreement to agree, in which a material term is left open for future negotiation, is unenforceable. This is especially true with respect to the amount to be paid for the sale or lease of real property.

Joseph Martin, Jr. Delicatessen, Inc. v. Schumacher, 436 N.Y.S.2d 247 (1981).

It is well-established that because the amount of rent is an essential term to a contract for the lease of real property, leases such as the 1982 Lease Agreement in this case, providing for future negotiation of the rent with no specified method for determining the amount, are unenforceable. Honolulu Water Front, 692 F.Supp 1230, 1235; Cottonwood Mall Co. v. Sine, 767 P.2d 499 (Utah 1988); Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc., 558 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1976); Slayter v. Pasley, 264 P.2d 444 (Oregon 1953); Joseph Martin, Jr. Delicatessen, 436 N.Y.S.2d 247. This is the majority position on this issue and it has been expressly adopted by the Utah Supreme Court in Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc., 558 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1976). Cottonwood Mall Co., 767 P.2d at 502.

In Pingree a lease granted the lessee the option to renew for two separate additional five-year terms upon the same terms and conditions of the original lease, except that the rental amount would be renegotiated subject to a cap of \$900 per month. The lease further provided the factors of tax increase, cost of business increases or decreases, business volume and success, insurance costs and other reasonable allowances, would be the basis for the terms of negotiation. Pingree, 558 P.2d at 1320. When the time for renewal arose, the parties were unable to agree upon rent and the lessor brought an action to recover possession. The lessee counterclaimed for enforcement of a five-year period at \$500 per month which was the amount the lessee had insisted

upon during negotiation. The Utah Supreme Court held that the option to renew was too vague and indefinite to be enforceable. Id.

The court in Pingree followed a majority rule set forth by an Oregon court in Slayter v. Pasley which stated:

A provision for the extension or renewal of a lease must specify the time the lease is to extend and the rate of rent to be paid with such a degree of certainty and definiteness that nothing is left to future determination. If it falls short of this requirement it is not enforceable.

Pingree, 558 P.2d at 1321 (citing Slayter, 264 P.2d 444, 446 (Oregon 1953)). Following Slayter, the Utah Supreme Court expressly refused to fix a reasonable rent for the parties when their own negotiations failed. Pingree, 558 P.2d 1317; Cottonwood Mall Company, 767 P.2d at 502.

Under Pingree, the Lease Agreement in the instant case created no more than a 36-month lease with an option to renew every 36 months. Applying the majority rule adopted by the Utah Supreme Court, the Lease Agreement was not enforceable when the parties failed to agree upon a rental amount and term beginning on September 1, 1988.

The only way the Lease Agreement could be enforced after August 1988 was if the parties entered into a written addendum to the lease specifying the amount of rent to be paid for an additional specified period of time. This interpretation is not only wholly consistent with Pingree, but it was also the

undisputed understanding of the parties. This was established at trial by the introduction of Exhibit 37D, the written addendum to the Lease Agreement entered into between Standard and English on September 1, 1985.

The addendum to the Lease Agreement specified the amount of rent to be paid and the term of the extension. Furthermore, it was signed by both parties to the lease. See Addendum attached hereto. English himself testified at trial that it was his understanding that if the 1982 Lease Agreement was to be changed or amended, it was necessary to have any such change or amendment put in writing and signed by the parties to the lease. See Trial Transcript, Volume II, pp. 11-13. Such a writing, moreover, is required by the Statute of Frauds.

A. There Was No Sufficient Writing Under The Statute Of Frauds To Extend The Enforceable Term Of The Rental Agreement Past August 31, 1988.

The undisputed evidence at trial was that the last written addendum to the lease was executed in 1985 between the parties and that addendum expired by its terms on September 1, 1988. See Trial Exhibit 37D (included in the addendum hereto). No further written addendums were entered.

The court's conclusion that the Lease Agreement was extended in November 1988 in the absence of any written addendum specifying the amount of rent to be paid, the term, and signed by both parties is not only inconsistent and contrary to the prior conduct of the parties and their stated understanding of the

necessity of an express written addendum for the extension of the lease, but it is also directly contrary to the requirements of the Statute of Frauds.

At trial, defendant raised the defense of the Statute of Frauds, Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3 (1989), contending that any amendment, renewal or extension of the 1982 Rental Agreement had to be in writing sufficient to satisfy the statute.¹ Trial Transcript, Vol. I, pp. 76-77 and Vol. III, p. 54-55. It was the trial court's conclusion that:

[The] Statute of Frauds did not apply to the renegotiation since the 1982 lease was the writing in question, and that was the writing subject to the Statute of Frauds, and there was full compliance with the Statute of Frauds and the renegotiated price was not subject to the statute of frauds.

Trial Transcript, Vol. IV, pp. 4-5.

The trial court went on to say that even if the renegotiation of the Lease was subject to the Statute of Frauds, it found that the two checks from Standard to English indicating \$1,000 payments together with a demand letter from English demanding payments for rent and refurbishing of the premises constituted the specific writing necessary to amend or extend the

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