1990

# W. Daniel English v. Standard Optical Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is not clear from Standard's Brief of Appellant ("Appellant's Brief") which findings of fact and conclusions of law Standard challenges an appeal. Standard appears to argue that the lower court should have entered a conclusion of law that the parties' agreement to reduce the rent from \$1,200 to \$1,000 per month for the third 36-month period of the lease term is unenforceable as a matter of law because the writings that discuss it are insufficient to satisfy the statute of frauds. However, admissions of the rent agreement made by Standard in its pleadings and at trial bar Standard from interposing the statute of frauds as a shield to liability. Even if the statute of frauds were to apply, the statute is satisfied by the Lease, the rent checks and check stubs written by Standard, and the parties' written correspondence, together with the parties' trial testimony that they had agreed on a rent amount.

Standard claims that English unlawfully evicted Standard when English changed the lock to the Leased Premises. However, English did not enter the premises or change the lock until after Standard had moved out of the premises and directed English to obtain a subtenant. Standard's instruction to obtain a subtenant effectively authorized English to enter the premises to repair them so that they could be shown to prospective tenants.

Furthermore, the lower court found that English's actions never deprived Standard of access to the Leased Premises; that each time Standard sought access, it was achieved; that English changed the lock for the purpose of protecting the workmen's tools; and that Standard was given a key to the new lock, all findings which are unchallenged by Standard on appeal.

Finally, Standard contends that English is not entitled to recover the amounts he expended in repairing and refurbishing the premises on the grounds that there was no evidence adduced at trial of the condition of the premises at the commencement of the lease term. On the contrary, the Lease itself, executed by Standard, recites in three different places that the Leased Premises were in a condition of "good" and/or "excellent" repair. Moreover, having been directed by Standard to obtain a subtenant and with Standard being in breach of its rent agreement, English had a duty to mitigate the damages caused by the accruing unpaid rent. The leading case of Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Company, 776 P.2d 896 (Utah 1989), mandates that landlords take commercially reasonable steps to relet premises and authorizes recovery of the reasonable costs of repairs and refurbishing incurred in reletting the premises.

## ARGUMENT

### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Standard has not specifically identified which findings of fact it challenges on appeal. A review of Standard's Appellant's Brief suggests that Standard has not expressly assigned err to any of the findings. To the extent that any of Standard's arguments impliedly contests any of the trial court's findings of fact, those findings shall not be set aside on appeal, unless Standard satisfies the requirements of Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Governing findings entered by the trial court, Rule 52, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, states in part as follows:

Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that a finding is "clearly erroneous" only where it is "against the clear weight of the evidence" or where the appellate court otherwise reaches "a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made." State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987); Special Service District 1 v. Jackson Cattle, 744 P.2d 1376, 1377 (Utah 1987). A trial court's findings should be affirmed where they are supported by

substantial evidence. See Jackson Cattle, 744 P.2d at 1377. The Utah Supreme Court, quoting C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2585 (1971), has stated:

"The appellate court. . .does not consider and weigh the evidence de novo. The mere fact that on the same evidence the appellate court might have reached a different result does not justify it in setting the findings aside. It may regard a finding as clearly erroneous only if the finding is without adequate evidentiary support or induced by an erroneous view of the law."

Walker, 743 P.2d at 193 (emphasis added). In Reid v. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Co., 776 P.2d 896 (Utah 1989), the court explained that for an appellant to challenge a trial court's findings of fact, the appellant:

must first marshal all the evidence supporting the finding and then demonstrate that the evidence is legally insufficient to support the findings even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below.

Reid, 776 P.2d at 899.

In its appeal, Standard also has not directly challenged any of trial court's conclusions of law or at least has not identified which conclusions it contends are erroneous. Nevertheless, this Court is not bound by the lower court's conclusions of law and reviews them for correctness. City of West Jordan v. Utah State Retirement Bd., 767 P.2d 530, 532 (Utah 1988). A trial court's conclusions of law, if correct, will be affirmed

on any grounds even if they are different from those stated by the trial court. See Foss Lewis & Sons Construction Co. v. General Insurance Co. of America, 517 P.2d 539, 540 (Utah 1973).

**II. STANDARD'S ADMISSION OF THE RENT AGREEMENT IN ITS PLEADINGS AND AT TRIAL BARS STANDARD FROM RELYING ON THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS AS A DEFENSE TO LIABILITY.**

Standard seeks to use the statute of frauds<sup>1</sup> to shield itself from liability for the lease payments which accrued after September 1, 1988. Standard argues that the writings that discuss the parties' agreement to pay \$1,000 rent are insufficient to satisfy that statute of frauds. Historically, the statute of frauds was designed to protect property owners from the fictitious claims of supposed transferees. However, the underlying purpose of the statute of frauds is satisfied where both parties admit the terms of the alleged oral agreement. Failure to enforce an agreement under these circumstances would result in the same injustice the statute of frauds is intended to prevent.

Consistent with the underlying purpose of the statute is the rule that a party who seeks to avoid enforcement of an oral agreement waives its right to rely on the statute of frauds

---

<sup>1</sup> Utah's statute of frauds relating to leases and contracts for interest in lands, Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3 (1989), provides as follows: "Every contract for the leasing for a longer period than one year . . . shall be void unless the contract, or some note or memorandum thereof, is in writing subscribed by the party by whom the lease . . . is to be made. . . ."

as a defense to the agreement where that party has admitted the terms of the agreement. The Utah Supreme Court recognized this rule in Bentley v. Potter, 694 P.2d 617 (Utah 1984).

In Bentley, the plaintiffs alleged that the defendant had orally agreed to guarantee a corporation's obligation to purchase a truck from the plaintiffs. At trial, the defendant admitted that at the time he signed the bill of sale for the truck on behalf of the corporate buyer, he intended and understood that he was a guarantor of the debt.

In determining whether the defendant should be held to his oral promise to guarantee the debt, the court stated:

The statute of frauds is a defense that can be waived by . . . admitting its existence in the pleadings [citations omitted]; or admitting at trial the existence and all essential terms of the contract [citations omitted].

Bentley, 694 P.2d at 621. On the basis of the defendant's in-court admission, the Court in Bentley held that the defendant had waived the statute of frauds as a defense and accordingly was bound by his promise to guarantee the debt despite the fact that it was not in writing as required by the statute of frauds. Id. The court reasoned as follows:

Since a purpose of the statute of frauds is to prevent fraud and perjury on the part of one claiming that another had guaranteed a debt, the one opposing the claim cannot complain if he admits the existence of the guarantee. [Citations omitted.] "It cannot give a court any great satisfaction to permit a



defendant to escape from performing a contract he admits he has made." 2 Corbin on Contracts § 320 at 153 (1950).

Id.

In the instant case, Standard has admitted the existence of an oral agreement for lease payments of \$1,000 per month both in its pleadings and at trial. In its Trial Brief, dated December 15, 1989, Standard asserts in paragraph 22 of the Statement of Facts as follows:

22. On or about November 2, 1988, Stephen Schubach called Dr. English at his home and proposed that Standard Optical pay \$1,000 a month for the Premises.

R. at 94. The trial testimony of Stephen Schubach, President of Standard, confirms the statement made by Standard in its Trial Brief. Schubach testified at trial that during the conversation which took place on or about November 2, 1988, he agreed to pay \$1,000. See Transcript, Vol. II, p. 194, line 20-22. Further confirming Schubach's testimony, English testified at trial that Schubach called English at his home on or about November 2, 1988, and agreed to \$1,000 as the rental figure. See Transcript, Vol. I, pp. 139-40.

While Standard admits in its Trial Brief and Schubach testified at trial that Schubach called English and agreed to \$1,000 per month as rent, Standard suggests in its brief that the agreement to pay \$1,000 per month rent may have been an agreement

only for the period until a new tenant was obtained.<sup>2</sup> See Appellant's Brief at 19. There is, however, a complete absence of support in the record for the assertion that the agreement to pay \$1,000 per month rent occurred in any context other than an agreement to pay \$1,000 per month for the third 36-month period of the Lease. At no place in his deposition or trial testimony did Schubach assert that Standard's agreement to pay \$1,000 per month rent was not in the context of the negotiations for a rent amount under the lease. At no place in his deposition or trial testimony did Schubach assert that the agreement to pay \$1,000 per month rent was in the context of a settlement.

Moreover, the trial court found that Standard agreed to pay \$1,000 per month for the premises. Standard has not challenged and this Court must accept that finding. Additionally, and as discussed below in Argument III, the parties' trial testimony regarding their negotiations and the parties' correspondence during those negotiations establish that the agreement to pay

---

<sup>2</sup> While the evidence establishes that the agreement to pay \$1,000 per month rent was for the third 36-month period of the lease term, it should be noted that the damages awarded by the trial court equal the amount suggested by Standard, i.e., \$7,400 which represents the amount of unpaid rent which accrued prior to the date English leased the premises to another tenant (approximately seven and one-half months).

\$1,000 per month rent related to the third 36-month period of the lease term.

III. THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN NOT CONCLUDING THAT THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS BARS RECOVERY.

A. The Cases Cited by Standard do not Govern the Facts of This Case.

In its brief, Standard cites a number of cases for the proposition that leases providing for the negotiation of rent with no specified method of determining the amount are unenforceable. Each case cited by Standard is distinguishable in that none of the parties involved in those cases actually agreed on a rent amount and made payments pursuant to that agreement. Accordingly, those cases do not govern. However, because Standard places special emphasis on Pingree v. Continental Group of Utah, Inc., 558 P.2d 1321 (Utah 1976), it is useful examine that case for its applicability to the case at bar.

Pingree involves a lease which expressly granted the tenant two options to renew for two five-year terms upon the same terms and conditions as the original lease, except that the rental amount would be renegotiated. As pointed out by Standard in its brief, the parties were unable to agree upon a rent amount for the renewal period. Pingree, 558 P.2d at 1321. Because the parties could not agree on a rent, the Utah Supreme Court in Pingree refused to fix a reasonable rent. Id. Standard contends

that Pingree governs the facts of this case and requires the conclusion that the Lease is not enforceable because the parties failed to agree on a rent amount after September 1, 1988.

Standard's analysis of Pingree entirely disregards the trial court's finding of fact, unchallenged on appeal, that English and Standard did agree on a rent amount. See R. at 194 (Finding of Fact, ¶ 28). Standard also disregards the undisputed fact that the parties' agreement for a \$1,000 per month rent amount was memorialized by Trial Exhibits 17 and 18, Standard's two written rent checks, and Trial Exhibit 13, English's signed letter. Accordingly, Pingree and the other cases cited by Standard relating to options to renew where the parties fail to agree on a rent amount are inapposite.

**B. The Parties' Writings and Parol Evidence Satisfy the Statute of Frauds.**

The Utah statute of frauds requires that a lease with a duration of more than one year must have some memorandum thereof, in writing and signed by the party by whom the lease is to be made. Utah Code Ann. § 25-5-3. It is well established that the writing necessary to satisfy the statute of frauds need not contain all of the terms and conditions of the agreement, but rather may be comprised of several memoranda which, taken together,

contain the terms of the agreement.<sup>3</sup> 72 Am.Jur. 2d, Statute of Frauds, § 371; In re Estate of Bonny, 600 P.2d 548, 549 (Utah 1979).

In the instant case, the parties' agreement on a rent amount for the third 36-month period of the lease term is memorialized by the Lease (Trial Exhibit 4); the October 20, 1988, rent check written by Standard (Trial Exhibit 17); and the December 1, 1988, rent check written by Standard (Trial Exhibit 18). Standard argues that because English, the party to be charged, did not sign the checks, they cannot be considered as satisfying the writing requirement of the statute of frauds. However, it is well established that not all of the writings memorializing an agreement need to be signed by the parties to be charged. Gregerson v. Jensen, 617 P.2d 369, 372-73 (Utah 1980); 72 Am. Jur. 2d, Statute of Frauds, § 371. While English did not sign the two checks when he deposited them into his bank, it is undisputed that he did sign the 1982 Lease.

Though Standard further contends that the checks do not contain references to the rental term, express words of reference

---

<sup>3</sup> Standard's assertion in its brief that "The only way the Lease Agreement could be enforced after August 1988 was if the parties entered into a written addendum to the lease specifying the amount of rent. . .," unsupported by any case authority, is patently inaccurate. Appellant's Brief at 14.

are not required to sufficiently connect a signed writing to an unsigned writing. 2 Corbin on Contracts, § 514 (1963). However, where signed and unsigned writings are relied on to satisfy the statute of frauds, there must be some "nexus" between the writings. Gregerson, 617 P.2d at 373. According to the Utah Supreme Court, this "nexus" may be shown by:

express reference in the signed writing to the unsigned one, or by implied reference gleamed from the contents of the writings and the circumstances surrounding the transaction. In the latter instance, parol evidence may be used to connect an unsigned document to one that has been signed by the persons to be charged.

Id. In the instant case, the parties' written correspondence from July, 1988, through November, 1988, and the parties' trial testimony regarding their negotiations during that period, establish that the October 20, 1988, and December 1, 1988, rent checks written by Standard referred to the Lease and memorialized the rent amount for the third 36-month period under the lease term.

The Lease provides for all of the terms of the parties' agreement (e.g., ten year lease term, description of premises, payment of maintenance expenses, taxes and insurance), except the amount of the monthly lease payment after September 1, 1988, which was to be negotiated pursuant to paragraph (c) of the Lease. Standard's two checks sent to English indicating payment for September, October and part of November's lease payments

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